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Operating  
24 hours a day, 

seven days a week, 
Brisbane Markets is the 

third largest central market 
in Australia, with more than 
600,000 tonnes of fresh 
produce through its gates 

annually worth more 
than $1.3 billion.
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The strength of industry-based 
ownership of the Brisbane 
Markets has again been  
re-iterated with the delivery of 
another record operating profit 
for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Such a result reflects the excellent 
leadership of Brisbane Markets Limited 
(BML), underpinned by a determined 
strategy to see the wholesale fresh fruit 
and vegetable industry prosper.

Our stewardship has resulted in the group 
producing a net operating profit after tax 
of $8.41 million, a pleasing 7% increase 
on the previous year’s operating profit of 
$7.86 million.

BML has demonstrated consistent growth 
since the privatisation of the Brisbane 
Markets in 2002. Through effective 
engagement with our key stakeholders and 
the focus on the operations, maintenance 
and development of the site, we have led 
the way to become a role model within  
our industry.

Our continued profits, teamed with 
strategic development over the years, have 
shown that industry-based ownership is the 
most effective way to manage our future.

BML has continued its delivery of major 
projects which provide for the ongoing 
upgrading and growth of the site.

These projects are an important part of 
our progress and a source of great pride to 
BML’s Board and management.

One of the most significant is the  
$10 million upgrade of the Central Trading 
Area within the Brisbane Produce Market. 
Stage 1 was completed within this financial 
year and Stage 2 was due for completion 
in August 2015. This all-weather covering 
has transformed the face of the Brisbane 
Produce Market, and is already drawing 
comment on its functionality, practicality 
and improvement to tenant trading 
practices.

We embarked on one of the largest 
privately owned rooftop solar panel 
installations in Australia, with 3350 solar 
panels expected to generate between 
2–3% of the site’s electricity requirements 
when completed.

Refurbishment works have continued 
to draw more tenants, customers 
and vibrancy to the Sherwood Road 
commercial precinct through upgrading the 
streetscape and building improvements. 
Plans are underway to progress two new 
projects with the refurbishment of Building 
G2 and the construction of a service 
station. The two projects will transform the 
Markets’ main entry.

Needless to say, such development is 
being met with support from tenants 
and industry partners at all levels and a 
significant proportion of the community 
who will reap the benefits of the new 
facilities, all of whom recognise that a 
strong Brisbane Markets means a strong 
supply chain from grower to consumer.

It is our continuing aim to grow 
shareholder value. As such, it is essential 
that we continue to build a better Brisbane 
Markets and create facilities and an 
experience that keep all our tenants and 
their customers returning to our site.

Part of our strategy is also to look off-site 
for continued investment opportunities that 
align with our core business.

As the financial year drew to a close, a 
regulatory review of trading arrangements 
within the fresh produce industry was 
announced, which will undoubtedly 
place the industry under the political and 
media spotlight. The Horticulture Code 
of Conduct is an anti-competitive and 
inflexible piece of legislation that has not 
served our community or our supply  
chain well since its introduction eight years 
ago. The review is a positive outcome for 
the Market wholesaling sector, and BML  
had lobbied for its review, which was  
long overdue. 

Finally, I would like to thank my fellow 
directors, BML’s management and staff 
members for their commitment and 
contribution to another successful year, as 
they make such achievements possible.

Such results are the work of experienced 
Board and management teams who 
have extensive experience in the Central 
Markets and property industries. This 
expertise has helped provide BML with a 
solid track record of delivering growth and 
outperforming budgets.

Chairman’s 
message

Tony Joseph 
Chairman
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BML has delivered an impressive 
financial performance for the 
year ended 30 June 2015, while 
also maintaining our ongoing 
focus on the upgrading and 
redevelopment of the site, the 
existence of an effective and 
safe operating environment 
for tenants and the efficient 
operation of BML. 

We have continued to make extensive 
site improvements, allowing us to update 
technology and systems to improve safety 
and operating efficiencies.

As at 30 June 2015, our total assets 
exceeded $243 million, the highest 
value since purchasing the site in 2002, 
reflecting the ongoing investment in 
improving the Rocklea site.

Financial performance
Our strong financial performance was 
achieved in an environment where there 
has been a drop in industrial property 
yields nationally (IBISWorld 2015).

While we have recorded some changes 
in investment property valuations, 
much of the positive outcome can be 
attributed to concentrating on our 
commitment to our strategic vision, site 
infrastructure development and a focus 
on service delivery to our tenants and  
key stakeholders.

BML’s net operating profit after tax of 
$8.41 million is a 7% increase on the 
company’s previous best result recorded 
in 2013/14. 

Total equity as at 30 June 2015 was 
$113,379,532, representing a book value of 
approximately $2.67 per share.

Return to shareholders
BML paid a full year dividend of 12.5 cents 
per share, fully franked, compared to the 
prior financial year’s figure of 11 cents  
per share. 

Property
We have made great progress with the 
continued upgrading of facilities, together 
with preparation works for development 
to continue into the new financial year. A 
review of the Site Master Plan is underway.

Development
Investing back into our site has been a 
priority with our continued upgrading, 
innovation and improvement of facilities 
creating a more competitive and 
professional environment for our tenants to 
work from. This development has included: 

• extensive works to provide all-weather 
roofing and the upgrading of the 
Brisbane Produce Market

• refurbishment of the Commercial 
Centre offices to upgrade tenant 
facilities, remove asbestos and create 
an attractive professional hub for our 
business community

• placement of infrastructure, readying 
BML to launch the largest rooftop-
mounted solar electricity installation  
in Australia

• progressing the installation of a new fire 
ring main to further protect our tenants 
and assets in the event of fire

• the raising of 23 main substation  
boards across the 77 hectare site as  
part of BML’s progressive flood 
mitigation strategy

• preparation works for the refurbishment 
of the 50-year-old Building G2 into a 
Commercial Centre precinct 

• construction of a new service station, 
with demolition of the old service 
station now complete. 

Occupancy statistics
Long-term development and 
refurbishment of tenancies has been 
fruitful, with BML recording a continued 
increase in its occupancy rate, with a 2.2% 
improvement from 2011 to 99.02% in the 
2014/15 financial year.

All industrial property is 100% occupied, 
retail is 96% occupied, while office 
accommodation is at 78% occupancy, 
which reflects new office stock coming on 
line. These figures are expected to improve. 
There has been a steady take-up of offices 
over the past 12 months with further lease 
negotiations underway.

Lease expiry
Some 150 leases (60% of all leases at the 
Brisbane Markets) expired at 31 August 
2014. BML worked closely with the 
wholesaler representative organisation 
Brismark, acting as tenant representative, 
to negotiate the terms for the new 
standard lease, the commencing net rental 
rates and the outgoings that could be 
recovered under the lease. Due to tenant 
consolidation, 133 new leases were issued, 
bringing the total leases on site to 235.

The weighted average lease expiry has 
improved from 3.14 years to 5.2 years, 
improving the lease profile of the business.

Weekend markets
Brisbane MarketPlace recorded strong 
trade with an increase in revenue and 
attendance at its Saturday Fresh and 
Sunday Discovery markets at Rocklea, 
and the Eagle Farm Sunday Market. These 
vibrant outing destinations attracted more 
than 15,000 people each weekend.

There has been a strong focus on 
improving the presentation and stallholder 
mix at the retail markets, with this 
including a focus on work health and 
safety (WHS), stallholder audits and 
general compliance.

CEO’s report 
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Retailer Program
BML continued to champion independent 
retailers with sponsorship of a revitalised 
Retailer Program managed by Brismark 
and branded “Your Local Fruit Shop”. More 
than 100 independent retailers signed up 
and are contributing additional finances 
and resources to the consumer-focused 
advertising and promotions campaign. 

Site operations 
There is an ongoing focus on WHS at the 
Brisbane Markets site. BML is working 
closely with Workplace Health and 
Safety Queensland to target areas of 
safety concerns, educate our community 
and actively reduce the potential for 
WHS incidents. This work has included 
progressing a review into the site’s Traffic 
Management Plan, which will be released 
late in 2015.

BML continued its focus on improving its 
management of waste, pest and cleaning 
programs for this site through awarding 
new contracts in all of these areas. This 
process includes the use of highly detailed 
specifications and key performance criteria.

BML developed a Site Access Service 
Provider Policy and launched an online 
induction system for service providers to 
ensure all contractors accessing our site 
are appropriately insured and licensed, 
have relevant risk management systems in 
place before undertaking works on site.

Operational site statistics  
2014/15
Access cards issued 4180

Forklift registrations 408

Forklift operator permits 1050

Site infrastructure 
and maintenance
A number of major maintenance projects 
were completed during the financial year 
including:

• major asphalt and road widening works

• fire detector upgrades

• lighting upgrades and bird netting 
replacement

• repairing more than $688,000 of 
property damage caused by a “super 
cell” storm in November 2014

• programmed maintenance of dock 
levellers.

IT systems
Works are underway to upgrade the site’s 
access control system to new “Gallagher” 
software that will introduce licence plate 
recognition technology. The project will be 
rolled out in late 2015.

Brisbane Markets continues to stay on 
top of its technology requirements with 
major upgrading and software integration 
projects underway, and an upgrading of 
the site’s telecommunications system and 
fibre optic network.

Corporate communications
The end of 2014 was a time for our 
community to celebrate. BML partnered 
with Brismark to stage celebrations to 
mark the 50th anniversary of the Rocklea 
site in September 2014. This included the 
release of a 50 Years Brisbane Markets 
at Rocklea coffee table book and the 
relaunch of the newly named Arch Martin 
Brisbane Markets History Room.

Always prepared to help others, the 
generosity of the Markets’ community was 
again widely reported with the staging of 
the 2014 Mango Auction raising more than 
$50,000 for charity. Further funds were 
raised during a secret auction at the annual 
Brisbane Produce Market Gala Dinner.

We continue to strengthen our 
relationships with industry partners. BML, 
along with Brismark, has continued to 
confer on industry issues and provide 
support with fellow Memorandum of 
Understanding signatories, Bundaberg 
Fruit and Vegetable Growers and Bowen 
Gumlu Growers Association. Our industry 
relationships have extended to suppliers 
and contractors, with a number of 
sponsorship agreements renewed or newly 
signed with BML.

Acknowledgement and thanks
I would like to take this opportunity to 
acknowledge our Chairman and Board for 
their guidance over the past year and also 
to thank BML’s 73 employees, along with 
the 50 retail markets casual staff members 
for their dedication and hard work. 

 

Andrew Young 
Chief Executive Officer
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Financial commentary

Operating performance 
summary
Operating group revenue increased by 
2.89% or $1.15 million when compared 
to the prior year, with the following key 
reasons for this increase:

• Rent and associated property related 
revenue has increased by 3.2% due 
to a combination of the Consumer 
Price Index increases to the majority 
of leases at the site, new tenants in 
the Commercial and Fresh Centres 
and a number of market rent reviews. 
This contributed to an overall increase 
in revenue of $0.833 million when 
compared to the prior financial year.

• Service revenue increased by 1.23% due 
to an increase in electricity consumption 
on site and the associated increase in 
revenue of $0.347 million as a result. This 
was partially offset by minor reductions 
in revenues from the LPG facility, 
beverage sales at the retail markets and 
the on-charge of site works to tenants. 
However, these lower revenues were 
offset by lower direct costs incurred.

• The renewal of 60% of leases in August 
2014 prompted a further increase in 
revenue of $0.23 million due to an 
increase in legal fees recharged to 

tenants. Again, this revenue increase  
was offset by an increase in legal  
fee expenditure.

• There was a 3.8% increase in profit 
contribution from the Retail Markets.

The operating group expenditure 
(including depreciation and finance costs) 
increased by 1.31% or $0.40 million when 
compared to the previous financial year 
due largely to the following:

• Site operation expenditure has  
increased slightly by $89,000 as a  
result of additional focus on cleaning 
and waste disposal.

• Repairs and maintenance costs have 
been maintained at a level consistent 
with the prior year. This level of 
expenditure effectively manages the 
ongoing requirements for improving the 
site, enhancing site presentation and risk 
mitigation works.

• Other expenditure was limited to an 
increase of $18,000, with this amount 
including $150,000 for insurance excess 
relating to significant damage caused in 
the November 2014 super cell storm.

• Property expenses have increased by 
approximately $377,000 predominantly 
due to $230,000 in legal fees incurred 

as a result of the August 2014 lease 
renewals (offset by additional revenue as 
noted above), and additional spending 
related to feasibility studies of new 
developments and advertising vacant 
space. This increase was partially offset 
by the recovery of part of these costs 
from tenants.

• Finance costs including interest and bank 
charges have reduced by approximately 
$317,000 or 4.8% as a result of the full 
year impact of reduced line fees and 
margins on the facility. In addition, while 
there has been an increase in overall 
borrowings, the total cost of borrowing 
has reduced. This is due to lower interest 
rates being applied to the variable 
portion of BML’s loan facility. 

This significant improvement in the 
financial result has led to BML declaring 
a total dividend of 12.5 cents for the final 
distribution for the year ended 30 June 
2015, which is to be paid in October 2015.

The balance sheet remains very strong 
with an overall improvement of $1.845 
million in BML’s net asset position for  
the year.

$ Mil

Net operating profit after tax 8.41

Insurance proceeds (net of tax) 1.15

Maintenance expenditure in excess of normal operating levels (net of tax) (0.77)

Investment property increment (net of tax) (0.13)

Net profit after tax 8.66

BML has had another successful 
year financially, with a record net 
operating profit of $8.41 million, 
representing operating profit 
growth exceeding 7% compared 
to the previous financial year. Net 
profit after tax was $8.66 million, 
after the exclusion of the impact 
of changes in investment property 
valuation and finalisation of the 
flood insurance claim.

Summary of net operating and non-operating  
impacts after tax – 30 June 2015
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Excluding the impact of insurance  
recovery and the additional expenditure 
detailed below, group revenues have 
increased by $1.15 million or 3.12%, while 
total expenses have increased by $0.40 
million or 1.48%. This has seen operating 
profit before income tax increase by  
$0.75 million or 6.65%.

Non-operating 
performance summary
BML finalised the insurance claim from the 
2011 flood and received $1.65 million as a 
final payment of the business interruption 
component of the claim. A decision was 
made to spend $1.10 million of these 
proceeds on essential site upgrade works 
over and above standard repairs and 
maintenance. This expenditure was spread 
across a number of areas including BML’s 
Building Improvement Program and the 
replacement of fire detection across the site. 
Over 70% of this expenditure was dedicated 
to the upgrade of the Central Trading Area 
and works within the Selling Floor buildings.

Asset revaluation 
An independent property valuation of all 
BML owned properties was undertaken 
as at 30 June 2015, with all investment 
properties being restated to fair value at 
this date.

A summary of property valuations is  
as follows:

• Larapinta experienced a slight reduction 
in value to $3 million due to the 
prevailing property market.

• 250 Sherwood Road (South Gate) 
maintained its value.

• 385 Sherwood Road (Brisbane Markets) 
returned an increase in asset value to 
$222.5 million, in line with the capital 
improvements undertaken and  
revenue increases. 

The impact in the financial statements 
was a net decrease in the investment 
property value of $184,366 before tax, 
which equates to an after tax decrease 
of $129,056. This value reduction means 
that the cumulative movement in the 
value of investment properties since the 
introduction of International Financial 
Reporting Standards in 2005 is an increase 
of $37.46 million. Property valuation 
adjustments are unrealised and cannot 
be included for purposes of cash flow, 
dividend calculation or financial  
covenants. However, the ongoing 
improvement in our asset value has a 
positive impact on the balance sheet 
health and future borrowing capacity. 

Long-term debt
BML continues to fund its capital 
expansion requirements through a debt 
funding facility. This funding facility was 
last renewed in February 2014 and the  
limit remains at $110 million.

Interest rate risk is managed through 
the use of long-term swaps. At 30 June 
2015, BML had five swaps in place. These 
five swaps were originally in place for 
periods of 20 years, 15 years, 7 years and 
two for 10 years, maturing in 2028, 2021, 
2018 and two in 2023 respectively. All the 
swaps have been assessed and will remain 
effective over their duration, despite  
being out of the money in the current 
economic environment.

Transactional banking
BML also consolidated the transactional 
banking requirements, with this banking 
component moving from National Bank to 
Westpac in April 2015. This decision was 
made after assessing transactional banking 
proposals from Westpac, NAB and the 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia.

Summary of net operating and non-operating  
impacts after tax – 30 June 2015
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AIFRS 2015
$

AIFRS 2014
$

AIFRS 2013
$

AIFRS 2012
$

AIFRS 2011
$

AIFRS 2010
$

Operating Revenues 41,033,200 39,882,173 37,348,257 35,938,930 38,696,587 32,336,031 

Increase in Value of Investment Properties 0 13,835,575 2,727,783 0 0 3,858,309 

Non-operating flood recovery revenue 1,651,941 1,918,296 0 0 0 0

Adjustment for Hedge Ineffectiveness 0 0 1,050,304 0 0 0 

Total Revenues 42,685,141 55,636,044 41,126,344 35,938,930 38,696,587 36,194,340 

Operating Expenses 21,897,808 21,171,654 19,631,101 20,282,818 23,529,759 15,931,362 

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 897,297 905,276 975,284 845,531 520,559 528,698 

Finance Costs 6,224,526 6,541,409 6,818,712 7,320,816 6,266,343 5,410,543 

Decrease in Value of Investment 
Properties

184,366 0 0 648,600 12,848,319 0 

Adjustment for Hedge Ineffectiveness 0 0 0 451,131 227,461 371,712 

Non-operating expenditure 1,104,759 1,956,737 0 0 0 0 

Total Expenses 30,308,756 30,575,076 27,425,097 29,548,896 43,392,441 22,242,315 

Net Profit Before Income Tax and 
Interest and Depreciation

19,498,208 32,507,653 21,495,243 14,556,381 2,091,048 19,891,266 

Net Profit Before Income Tax Expense 12,376,385 25,060,968 13,701,247 6,390,034 (4,695,854) 13,952,025 

Income Tax Expense 3,715,536 7,519,908 3,789,444 2,053,802 (1,351,234) 4,262,098 

Net Profit After Tax 8,660,849 17,541,060 9,911,803 4,336,232 (3,344,620) 9,689,927 

Net Profit After Tax excluding 
Investment Property valuation changes 
and Hedge Ineffectiveness adjustments

8,789,906 7,856,157 7,267,142 5,106,044 5,808,426 7,249,309 

Net Profit After Tax excluding 
Investment Property valuation changes 
and Hedge Ineffectiveness and flood 
insurance

8,406,879 7,883,065 7,267,142 5,106,044 5,808,426 7,249,309 

Dividend Paid 5,100,000 4,568,750 3,718,750 4,250,000 3,931,248 4,009,369 

Dividend Proposed Since 30 June 
payable October

2,762,500 2,550,000 2,443,750 1,700,000 2,231,250 2,443,750 

Total Assets 243,736,027 233,707,225 215,198,506 206,491,712 204,230,364 196,402,827 

Total Liabilities 130,356,495 122,172,589 115,662,987 114,207,429 106,722,906 92,707,917 

Total Equity 113,379,532 111,534,636 99,535,519 92,284,283 97,507,458 103,694,910 

Net Tangible Assets per Share 265.26 cents 260.92 cents 232.69 cents 215.63 cents 227.92 cents 242.47 cents

Earnings per share including Investment 
Property valuation changes and Hedge 
Ineffectiveness adjustments

20.38 cents 41.27 cents 23.32 cents 10.20 cents -7.87 cents 22.80 cents

Earnings per share adjusted for 
Investment Property valuation changes 
and Hedge Ineffectiveness adjustments

20.68 cents 18.49 cents 17.10 cents 12.01 cents 13.67 cents 17.06 cents

Number of shares as at 30 June 42,500,000 42,500,000 42,500,000 42,500,000 42,500,000 42,500,000 

Financial results 
summary

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Movement in value of investment properties -184,366  13,835,575  2,727,783 -648,600 -12,848,319  3,858,309 

Cumulative movement  37,463,088  37,647,454  23,811,879  21,084,096  21,732,696  34,581,015 

Hedge ineffectiveness 0 0  1,050,304 -451,131 -227,461 -371,712 

Cumulative movement 0 0 0 -1,050,304 -599,173 -371,712 

Property valuation effects FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE
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Major projects summary
Central Trading Area 
roof project
In September 2014, work began on the 
construction of three new roof structures 
in the Central Trading Area, designed to 
create an all-weather trading environment 
which has transformed the functionality 
and appearance of this space. This 
$10 million project was completed in 
two stages, with Stage 1 involving the 
erection of two 4000 m2 roof structures, 
individually supported by a single row of 
10 columns, which span the open areas 
between Buildings B and C and the 
Covered Unloading Area. Stage 2 saw 
construction commence on an additional 
2600 m2 structure constructed between 
the Covered Unloading Area and Building 
D, which was set for completion in August 
2015. All three roof structures will combine 
to create cover over the entire area 
between these three buildings.

The roofing project also included bird 
netting, smart LED lighting and a public 
address system being installed in the 

three new awnings and the Covered 
Unloading Area. This work was completed 
in conjunction with significant upgrade 
works to Buildings B, C and D. These 
works included the removal of the existing 
awnings, recladding of the building 
façades, replacing all mezzanine office 
windows, the construction of a new 
sign bulkhead with new tenant signage, 
resurfacing the rear loading docks, 
installation of new dock buffers, and the 
installation of new hydrants and fire  
hose reels.

The final stage of the project was due 
to be completed in September 2015 
and included the construction of two 
new marshalling/access areas at the 
southern ends of Buildings B and C. In 
addition to providing a safe entry location 
for pedestrians, these structures will 
provide additional weather protection for 
the Selling Floors at the ends of these 
buildings. The end result will be a safer, 
well-lit, dynamic setting which directly 
supports the trading practices now and 
well into the future.

BML is committed to improving 
existing, and investing in new, 
infrastructure. This will ensure 
that we continue to provide 
modern office, warehouse and 
trading facilities that will improve 
the operating environment for 
businesses based at the Markets 
and to promote the Markets’ 
relevance in the fresh produce 
supply chain. Over the past year, 
BML has invested in numerous 
and varied development projects 
designed to deliver on this vision 
for the site.

The first main trussed beam is placed 
at Building D as part of Stage 2 of the 
Brisbane Produce Market roofing project.
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Fire ring main
BML is installing a new fire ring main 
around and within the northern precinct 
of the site. This project includes the 
installation of a new fire ring main which 
runs the lengths of Buildings A, B, C and D, 
through the Covered Unloading Area and 
around the Central Trading Area.

Additional fire ring main works are 
completed as part of this project and 
include a pipe run from Building Z, east 
along the underside of the Building Y 
awning and then south between Buildings 
T, W and Y2 to a newly constructed pump 
station located between Building G1 and 
the Commercial Centre. The final stretch 
of main was installed through the Brisbane 
Flower Market and Fresh Centre car parks 
and connected to the pump station at the 
Fresh Centre. 

Flood mitigation – raising 
main switchboards
BML commenced Stage 2 of a project 
to elevate all of the substation main 
distribution boards at the site above the 
2011 flood peak level. This flood mitigation 
work is designed to protect this critical 
electrical infrastructure from any future 
flood threat and significantly reduce  
the recovery period of restoring power  
to tenants.

As with Stage 1, these works involved the 
construction of new substation platforms 
and the raising of existing, or installation 
of new, distribution boards as required. 
This $1.5 million project saw substation 
boards raised at Buildings A, B, K, L, M, 
O, V and W with boards at Buildings Y1 
and F1, scheduled to be completed in 
September 2015.

Solar panel pilot project
A $2 million project to install three solar 
panel systems on the roofs of Buildings R, 
L1 and J1 was progressed with completion 
due in late August 2015. The power 
generating capacity of these systems 
will be tracked online, and is expected to 
equate to between 2% and 3% of the total 
power for the site. A total of 3350 panels 
have been installed, and at 315 watts each, 
this equates to a 1.05 gigawatt system, 
making it one of the largest privately 
owned rooftop mounted solar installations 
in Australia.

Signage upgrade
BML completed the corporate rebranding 
of all major building signs and pylon signs 
at this site. All seven of BML’s existing 
pylon signs were replaced, with four of 
those signs increasing in height from five 
to eight metres. One additional eight 
metre sign was installed at the eastern end 
of the Commercial Centre. The signs are 
backlit with LED lighting, with two of the 
pylons equipped with LED panel displays 
that will be used for promoting events and 
messages to passing traffic.

This $350,000 project also included 
the installation of new major building 
signage above the Entrance Gatehouses, 
Commercial Centre, LPG pump station and 
the elevations of Buildings Z and J1, which 
face Sherwood Road.

Telstra communications tower
To facilitate the Covered Trading Area 
roofing project, Telstra removed its 
antennas from the Building C roof and 
constructed a 26 m communications tower 
at its cost at the southern end of Building C.

Building improvement 
program
As part of BML’s ongoing building 
improvement program, several projects 
were undertaken during the course of the 
year to remove asbestos and undertake 
essential maintenance. These projects 
included:

• repainting the internal warehouse 
ceilings of Buildings A, B and C

• replacing the skylights in Building A

• removing asbestos eves to the exterior 
of the Commercial Centre

• repainting the Flower Market shopfronts 
and the southern elevations of Buildings 
U and W

• removing redundant electrical and 
communications cabling in Buildings D, 
E, I, J, L, P, Q, S, T, V, X and Z

• replacing roof sheeting at Building R.

Emergency lighting upgrade
Commencing in May and due to be 
completed by December 2015, BML 
proceeded with Stage 2 of replacing and 
upgrading the emergency lighting on site. 
These works involved the replacement and 
upgrading of emergency exit and back-up 
lighting in Buildings A, B, C, E, J, S, T, U, V, 
W and X to a value of $880,000. The new 
emergency lighting in these buildings has 
been connected to a Nexus RF monitored 
system, which allows all future testing to 
identify faults and failures to be conducted 
remotely and will significantly streamline 
the testing process and reduce inspection 
and replacement costs.

Fire detection replacements
BML has implemented a program to 
replace 20% of fire detection on site 
each year, with the goal of continuously 
replacing end of life detection equipment. 
In this, the first year of a five-year program, 
detection has been replaced in Buildings J, 
K and S at a cost of $60,000. In addition, 
all under-awning detectors which were 
damaged in the November 2014 supercell 
storm were replaced through storm 
insurance.

Demolition of service 
station site
All buildings, hardstand, slab and 
underground fuel tanks have been 
removed. Work has now commenced to 
excavate and remove contaminated soil 
from the site ahead of the development of 
a new Puma Energy Service Station.

The new back-lit signage incorporating 
the LED panel display

Upgraded Commercial Centre offices
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Future projects
Building G2 refurbishment
BML finalised designs and secured 
development approval for the 
refurbishment of Building G2, formerly a 
50-year-old brick warehouse adjacent to 
the main entrance to the Brisbane Markets. 
This $6 million project will also address the 
external areas of the building and provide 
new footpaths, road surfaces, landscaping 
and parking in what will be a new 
commercial precinct that will transform 
the entrance to the Markets. A 24-hour 
gymnasium operator, Anytime Fitness, and 
Market Organics, an organic food retailer, 
are pre-committed tenants that have 
leased a combined area of nearly 50% of 
the total lettable space in Building G2.  
The remaining space is currently  
being marketed.

Service station development
BML negotiated an Agreement for Lease 
and Lease with Neumann Petroleum Pty 
Ltd t/a Puma Energy for the former service 
station site. BML has agreed to develop 
a new Puma Energy Service Station and 
lease this facility to Puma Energy for a  
30-year term if all options are exercised. 
This project will complement the 
refurbishment of Building G2 and provide  
a valuable service to Market users.

Review of the Master Plan
BML is reviewing the Master Plan with 
some potential new development 
possibilities being considered including:

• new warehouses

• covered buyer unloading

• multi-level car park

• additional refurbishment projects.

Artist’s impression of the 
refurbished G2 Building. 
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Directors’ report
30 June 2015

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Brisbane Markets Limited and 
the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2015.

Directors 
The following persons were directors of Brisbane Markets Limited during the year or at the date of this report:

Anthony Joseph 
Bruce Hatcher  
Peter Tighe 
Simon George  
Anthony Kelly 
Stuart Lummis  
Noel Greenhalgh 
Andrew Young

Principal activities
During the year, the principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity consisted of:

• Facilitating the efficient and effective operation and growth of the Brisbane Markets,

• Providing world class infrastructure and services to facilitate the marketing and distribution of predominantly fresh produce, together 
with flowers and other ancillary products, to domestic and international customers,

• Preserving and promoting the role of the Central Market for the benefit of industry stakeholders and consumers. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year.

Results
The net profit of the consolidated entity after income tax and including revaluation of investment properties for the year ended 30 June 
2015 was $8,660,849 (12 months to 30 June 2014: $17,541,060). The impact of the revaluation in the current year was a decrement of 
$184,366 (increment of $13,835,575 for 2013/14) and the impact after tax was $129,056 ($9,684,903 in 2013/14).

Net operating profit after income tax excluding revaluation was $8,789,905 in 2014/15 compared to $7,856,157 in 2013/14. The net 
profit after tax of the consolidated entity was impacted favorably by the proceeds from finalisation of the 2011 flood insurance claim 
totaling $1,156,538 (after income tax). Due to this insurance windfall, the board committed additional expenditure over an above normal 
maintenance expenditure totaling $773,331 (after income tax). Accordingly, a one off positive impact on net profit after tax in relation to 
the insurance claim proceeds (net of additional expenditure) was $383,207.

At balance date, Brisbane Markets Limited’s drawn down funding facility was hedged under five long term interest rate swaps to the 
extent of 70.69%. Hedging is a requirement of the funding facility provided by the company’s banker.

Review of operations
The consolidated entity’s continued operational focus throughout the year was in the areas of property management, site maintenance 
and management of the site in accordance with the Brisbane Markets Regulations, with the following being the key highlights:

• The Brisbane Markets site continues to maintain an exceptional occupancy rate of 99.02% at 30 June 2015 (an increase from the 
prior year occupancy rate of 98.66%), with the weighted average lease expiry now at 5.79 years, up from 2.94 years at 30 June 2014. 
This improvement is a reflection of the successful renewal of 150 leases that expired at 31 August 2014, and highlights the success of 
the extensive process followed by the group in working closely with the tenant representative group, Brismark, throughout the lease 
renewal process.

• The Retail Markets continue to operate under the brand of Brisbane MarketPlace and Eagle Farm Markets from the Rocklea site 
and the Eagle Farm Racecourse. This division has continued to perform well and make a solid contribution to the profitability of the 
group. The Retail Markets Division contribution to the group profit after tax has improved by 7.1% compared to the prior year.

• The group has continued its support of the independent retailing sector with an increase in the sponsorship contribution made 
towards the “Your Local Fruit Shop” campaign which was launched during the year.

• Construction of a new roof between Buildings B and C was completed in May 2015, and the additional roof extension to Building D 
was finalised in August 2015. The completion of these works provides the Covered Unloading Area additional roof coverage of over 
10,000m2, and provides weather proofing for the main trading precinct of the Brisbane Produce Market.

• The re-branding of the Brisbane Markets site occurred, with the replacement of all major building and illuminated pylon signs that 
incorporate BML’s suite of corporate logos during the year, significantly enhancing the site presentation. 

• Works were completed on stage 3 of the new Fire Hydrant Ring Main which is a major project to ensure that all fire hydrants on the 
site will be serviced by a separate water supply that will meet all water pressure requirements. Further stages of this project will be 
completed in subsequent years.

• Further work progressed on the replacement program for the main substation switchboards and at the completion of this work in 
October 2015, 96% of the main substation boards will be raised above the 2011 flood level.

• The group embarked on the installation of one of the largest privately owned roof top solar panel installations in Australia which 
incorporates 3,350 solar panels, and is expected to generate between 2-3% of the site’s electricity requirements in future years.
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• Additional works were undertaken across the site this year to improve the overall presentation. In total over $1.1 Million was spent in 
addition to the normal maintenance requirements, with the specific works covering internal and external painting, replacement of 
selling floor dock bumpers, replacement of bird netting, fire detector replacements, asbestos removal, and resurfacing dock slabs.

• There is an ongoing focus on attracting additional tenants, customers and improving the vibrancy of the Sherwood Road Commercial 
Centre precinct, through major refurbishments. Plans are underway to extend these refurbishments with leases already signed for an 
upgraded Building G2 and service station that will transform the Market’s main entry.

The land and buildings at the Brisbane Markets site were valued by LandMark White (Brisbane) Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2015 and the 
financial accounts of the consolidated entity reflect the movement in the value of this asset. Under the relevant Accounting Standards, 
any increase or reduction in the value of Brisbane Markets Limited’s property assets must be brought to account through the Statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The decrease in value which has occurred this year reflects the accounting treatment 
of the adjustment of Brisbane Markets Limited’s property values as assessed by LandMark White. The movement is an unrealised 
adjustment to the consolidated entity’s financial results which is not included for cashflow or dividend calculation purposes.

Dividends
Dividends paid to shareholders during the 2014/15 financial year were as follows:

Final fully franked ordinary dividend of 5.0 cents per fully paid share paid on 17 October 2014 $2,125,000

Final fully franked special dividend of 1.0 cents per fully paid share paid on 17 October 2014 $425,000

Interim fully franked ordinary dividend of 6.0 cents per fully paid share paid on 20 March 2015 $2,550,000

Total dividends paid during 2014/15 financial year $5,100,000

Total dividends paid during 2013/14 financial year $4,568,750

Significant changes in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the 2014/15 financial year.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
There are no significant events that have occurred subsequent to the end of the financial year that have not been disclosed in this 
report, other than the following:

• Brisbane Markets Limited entered into a contract with Watpac Speciality Services Pty Ltd on 13 August 2015 for the completion of 
the building works required to refurbish Building G2. The contract has a value of $4.71 Million plus GST.

Likely developments
Information in relation to the likely developments of the consolidated entity include:

• The Brisbane Markets Limited board continues to review its Strategic Priorities on a regular basis, which includes an ongoing focus 
being given to the operation and development of the existing Brisbane Markets site.

• Brisbane Markets Limited progressed the revision of its development Master Plan during the current financial year, and a number of 
development opportunities have been identified across the site. This will commence with the redevelopment of Building G2 and the 
Service Station in the next 12 months, with other identified opportunities progressed concurrently.

Environmental regulations
The consolidated entity is not subject to any significant environmental regulation.

Information on directors and company secretary

Director Experience Special Responsibilities

Chairman 

A Joseph 

MAICD, C.Dec

Director since incorporation – 4 July 1994, director of a private 
company with interests in fruit and vegetable wholesaling and 
previous long standing member of the Brisbane Market Trust. 
Chairman of the board since 11 November 1997.

Chairman

Member of : 
•  Remuneration Committee

(and also attends other  
committee meetings)

Executive Director

A Young 

DipCorpMgmt, BCom, 
MAICD, BAgrSc (Hons), 
FAIM, FCPA

Managing Director from 1 January 2000 and appointed to 
Chief Executive Officer of Brisbane Markets Limited on 1 
October 2002, while retaining the position of Chief Executive 
Officer of Brismark. Extensive managerial experience with 
tertiary qualifications in Agricultural Science, Accounting and 
Corporate Management. He also has detailed knowledge of the 
operations of the fresh produce industry, Central Markets and 
property development and management.

CEO

Member of:

•  Finance and Audit Committee

•  Legal and Compliance Committee

•  Remuneration Committee

•  Strategy and Investment Committee

N Greenhalgh Director from 9 September 1997 until 22 September 1998, re-
elected as a director by shareholders on 16 November 1999 until 
resignation on 17 January 2002. Reappointed as a director on 
18 March 2003. Director of a number of private companies with 
interests in fruit and vegetable wholesaling. 

Director

Member of:

•  Tenant Advisory Committee (Chair)

•  Strategy and Investment Committee
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Director Experience Special Responsibilities

Deputy Chairman

A Kelly 

LLB, MAICD, JP(Qual)

Director since November 2001.  A qualified lawyer and until 
2004, a director of a number of private companies with 
interests in fresh produce wholesaling, distribution and export. 
Formerly President of Brismark, Chairman of Brisbane Lions 
AFL Football Club and director of Gladstone Ports Corporation.

Director

Member of:

•  Finance and Audit Committee

•  Legal and Compliance Committee (Chair)

•  Safety Advisory Committee (Chair)

P G Tighe Director from 18 November 1994 until 22 September 1998. 
Reappointed as a director on 16 November 1999. Director 
of a number of private companies with interests in fruit and 
vegetable wholesaling and exporting. 

Director

Member of:

•  Legal and Compliance Committee

•  Strategy and Investment Committee

S George Director since 27 March 2012. Director of a number of 
private companies with extensive interests in fresh produce 
wholesaling, processing and exporting, as well as commercial 
developments in Queensland, New South Wales and the 
Northern Territory.

Director

Member of:

•  Finance and Audit Committee

•  Strategy and Investment Committee

B Hatcher

BCom, FCA, FAICD,  
FFSIA, FAIM

Director since 21 November 2012. Extensive experience in 
Chartered Accounting covering many industry sectors and 
consults to and serves on the boards of several private and/
or family owned businesses. Currently a director of the 
Queensland Rugby League, Deputy Chairman of the board of 
the Queensland Academy of Sport and a director of the MTAA 
Superannuation Fund.

Director

Member of:

•  Finance and Audit Committee (Chair)

S Lummis

BEc, FAICD, DipConstMan, 
GradDipAcc, FFin

Director since November 2013. Extensive experience in large 
publicly listed groups in addition to not for profit organisations. 
Currently the director for building, planning, facilities and 
property with a not for profit organisation. 

Director

Member of:

•  Finance and Audit Committee

•  Strategy and Investment Committee (Chair)

M Stewart 

B.Bus, CA, AGIA, C.Dec

Company Secretary since February 2015 and Chartered 
Accountant with over 25 years of experience. 

Company Secretary

Messrs. Joseph, Greenhalgh, Tighe and George are principals of companies that are also shareholder members of The Queensland 
Chamber of Fruit and Vegetable Industries Co-operative Limited, which is a substantial shareholder of Brisbane Markets Limited. 
Shareholders of The Queensland Chamber of Fruit and Vegetable Industries Co-operative Limited hold one share in the Chamber, with a 
nominal value of $20.

Meetings of directors
The number of meetings of the company’s board of directors and of each board committee held during the year ended 30 June 2015, 
and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

Full Meeting Finance & Audit Legal & Compliance Strategy & Investment Remuneration

Meetings 
Attended

Meetings 
held 

Meetings 
Attended

Meetings 
held 

Meetings 
Attended

Meetings 
held 

Meetings 
Attended

Meetings 
held 

Meetings 
Attended

Meetings 
held 

N Greenhalgh 7 9 2 2

S George 9 9 3 3 1 2

B Hatcher 7 9 3 3

A Joseph * 8 9 3 3 3 3 1 1

A Kelly 8 9 3 3 3 3

S Lummis 9 9 3 3 2 2

P Tighe 8 9 3 3 2 2

A Young 9 9 3 3 3 3 2 2 1 1

* A Joseph attended Finance & Audit, Legal & Compliance and Strategy & Investment Committees in his capacity as Chairman of the Board.  
A Joseph is not a Committee Member of these Committees.

The company’s board of directors are also involved in Brisbane Markets Advisory Committees as follows:

• Brisbane Markets Safety Advisory Committee – Anthony Kelly (Chair) 3 meetings held and attended

• Brisbane Markets Tenant Advisory Committee – Noel Greenhalgh (Chair) 2 meetings held and attended

Directors’ report
30 June 2015
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The Board committees and the membership of those Committees as at 30 June 2015 is:

Finance and Audit Committee: Andrew Young, Bruce Hatcher (Chair), Anthony Kelly, Simon George and Stuart Lummis.

Legal and Compliance Committee: Andrew Young, Anthony Kelly (Chair) and Peter Tighe.

Remuneration Committee: Andrew Young and Anthony Joseph.

Strategy and Investment Committee 
(This Committee was established in November 2014)

Andrew Young, Stuart Lummis (Chair), Simon George, Noel Greenhalgh and Peter Tighe.

The Board also appoints two advisory committees which include tenant representatives.  
The Directors who are appointed as Chairman of those Committees as at 30 June 2015 are:

Brisbane Markets Safety Advisory Committee: Anthony Kelly (Chair)

Brisbane Markets Tenant Advisory Committee: Noel Greenhalgh (Chair)

Options
No options over unissued shares or interests in the company or a controlled entity were granted during or since the end of the financial 
year and there were no options outstanding at the date of this report.

Proceedings on behalf of company
No person has applied to the Court under Section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
company for all or any part of those proceedings.

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors
During the financial year, Brisbane Markets Limited paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring directors, secretaries and executive 
officers of the company and its controlled entities against a liability incurred as director, secretary or executive officer to the extent 
permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of 
the premium.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed 
to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or any of its controlled entities against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

Auditor Independence 
Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires the company’s auditors, BDO Audit Pty Ltd, to provide the directors with a written 
Independence Declaration in relation to their audit of the financial report ended 30 June 2015. The Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
is attached and forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Non-Audit Services
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor are 
outlined in note 23 to the financial statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another person or firm 
on the auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements do not compromise the external 
auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

• all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the 
auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the company, acting as advocate for the company or 
jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

A J Joseph   A Young 
Chairman    Director

16 September 2015 
Brisbane

Directors’ report
30 June 2015
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 Auditors’ independence declaration

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABN 33 134 022 870 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited 
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 

	  

Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 
Fax: +61 7 3221 9227 
www.bdo.com.au 

Level 10, 12 Creek St 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001 
Australia 

 
 
 

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY D P WRIGHT TO DIRECTORS OF BRISBANE MARKETS LIMITED 
 

 
As lead auditor of Brisbane Markets Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015, I declare that, to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Brisbane Markets Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

D P Wright 
Director 

 
 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

 
Brisbane, 16 September 2015 

 
 
 
 

	  

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABN 33 134 022 870 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited 
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 

	  

Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 
Fax: +61 7 3221 9227 
www.bdo.com.au 

Level 10, 12 Creek St 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001 
Australia 

 
 
 

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY D P WRIGHT TO DIRECTORS OF BRISBANE MARKETS LIMITED 
 

 
As lead auditor of Brisbane Markets Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015, I declare that, to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Brisbane Markets Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

D P Wright 
Director 

 
 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

 
Brisbane, 16 September 2015 
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 Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Consolidated

Note 2015 
$

2014 
$

Revenue

Rent revenue 26,505,778 25,672,593 

Service revenue 11,069,654 10,964,356 

Entry fees and parking 2,560,433 2,610,616 

Interest 78,954 21,995 

Increase in value of investment properties 10(a) - 13,835,575 

Marketing revenue 310,051 276,896 

Insurance recovery 1(u) 1,651,941 1,918,296 

Other revenue 508,330 335,717 

Total revenue 42,685,141 55,636,044 

Expenses

Employee benefits expenses 6,644,209 6,122,391 

Marketing and promotion - general 388,739 351,728 

Marketing and promotion - Retail Market 183,229 172,680 

Corporate compliance, planning and services 266,520 231,105 

Direct costs of services provided 6,998,456 7,413,479 

Repairs and maintenance 2,361,604 1,204,903 

Site operations 1,222,213 1,133,398 

Decrease in value of investment properties 10(a) 184,366 -

Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 897,297 905,276 

Finance costs 3 6,224,526 6,541,409 

Property expenses 3,801,915 3,424,964 

Flood expenses 3 - 1,956,737 

Other expenses 1,135,682 1,117,006 

Total expenses 30,308,756 30,575,076 

Profit before income tax expense 4 12,376,385 25,060,968 

Income tax expense 4 3,715,536 7,519,908 

Profit after income tax for the year 8,660,849 17,541,060 

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Cash flow hedge reserve (2,451,361) (1,390,276)

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 735,408 417,083 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (1,715,953) (973,193)

Total comprehensive income for the year 6,944,896 16,567,867 

Profit attributable to:

Owners of Brisbane Markets Limited 8,660,849 17,541,060 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of Brisbane Markets Limited 6,944,896 16,567,867 

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2015

Consolidated

Note 2015 
$

2014 
$

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 24(a) 901,785 3,232,660 

Trade and other receivables 6 1,104,184 2,551,180 

Inventories 7 15,494 22,472 

Other current assets 8 1,109,426 1,107,803 

Total current assets 3,130,889 6,914,115 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 3,461,661 3,349,633 

Investment properties 10 236,500,000 222,800,000 

Intangible assets 12 643,477 643,477 

Total non-current assets 240,605,138 226,793,110 

Total assets 243,736,027 233,707,225 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 5,973,945 5,062,211 

Provisions 14 164,308 109,582 

Current tax liabilities 11 915,308 1,088,724 

Total current liabilities 7,053,561 6,260,517 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 14 47,895 63,028 

Borrowings 15 91,950,000 88,650,000 

Deferred tax liabilities 11 17,446,138 15,791,504 

Derivatives 17 13,858,901 11,407,540 

Total non-current liabilities 123,302,934 115,912,072 

Total liabilities 130,356,495 122,172,589 

Net assets 113,379,532 111,534,636 

Equity

Contributed equity 16 52,480,219 52,480,219 

Reserves 18 (9,701,232) (7,985,279)

Retained profits 70,600,545 67,039,696 

Total equity 113,379,532 111,534,636 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Note Issued  
capital

Cash flow  
hedge reserve

Retained  
profits

Totals

$ $ $ $

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2013 52,480,219 (7,012,086) 54,067,386 99,535,519

Profit after income tax for the year  - - 17,541,060 17,541,060

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Change in fair value of cash flow hedge 18 - (973,193) - (973,193)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (973,193) 17,541,060 16,567,867

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners:

Dividends paid 5 - - (4,568,750) (4,568,750)

Balance at 30 June 2014 52,480,219 (7,985,279) 67,039,696 111,534,636

Balance at 1 July 2014 52,480,219 (7,985,279) 67,039,696 111,534,636

Profit after income tax for the year  - - 8,660,849 8,660,849

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Change in fair value of cash flow hedge 18 - (1,715,953) (1,715,953)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (1,715,953) 8,660,849 6,944,896

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners:

Dividends paid 5 - - (5,100,000) (5,100,000)

Balance at 30 June 2015 52,480,219 (9,701,232) 70,600,545 113,379,532

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2015

Consolidated

Note 2015 
$

2014 
$

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 45,377,231 42,459,668 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (23,439,614) (24,994,150)

21,937,617 17,465,518

Interest received 78,954 21,995 

Finance costs (6,318,715) (6,644,587)

Income taxes paid (1,498,910) (2,455,035)

Net cash provided by operating activities 24(b) 14,198,946 8,387,891 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 175,314 16,757 

Purchase of investments (13,711,907) (5,437,426)

Purchase of plant and equipment 9 (1,193,228) (314,486)

Net cash provided by/ (used in) investing activities (14,729,821) (5,735,155)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 3,300,000 150,000 

Dividends paid 5 (5,100,000) (4,568,750)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,800,000) (4,418,750)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,330,875) (1,766,014)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 3,232,660 4,998,674 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 24(a) 901,785 3,232,660 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. These 
financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, the revaluation of available-for-
sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, investment properties, certain classes of property, plant and 
equipment and derivative financial instruments.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

Brisbane Markets Limited is an unlisted public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Unless otherwise stated the financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the functional and presentational currency of the 
consolidated entity.

(b) Parent entity information

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity only. Supplementary 
information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 26.

(c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Brisbane Markets Limited (‘company’ or ‘parent 
entity’) as at 30 June 2015 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Brisbane Markets Limited and its subsidiaries together are 
referred to in these financial statements as the ‘consolidated entity’.

Subsidiaries are those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an entity when the consolidated 
entity is exposed to, or has the rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated 
entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity.

(d) Revenue recognition

Rental revenue

Rental revenue from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Revenue not received at the reporting date 
is reflected in the statement of financial position as a receivable or if paid in advance, as rent in advance (unearned income). Lease incentives 
granted are considered an integral part of the total rental revenue and are recognised as a reduction in rental income over the term of the lease, 
on a straight-line basis. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the periods in which they are earned.

Service revenue

Service income relates to utility services provided to tenants and is recognised as income in the periods in which services are provided. Service 
revenue not received at the reporting date is reflected in the statement of financial position as a receivable or if paid in advance, as rent in 
advance (unearned income).

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Gain or loss on disposal of assets

Gain or loss on disposal of assets is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the date of disposal and the net 
proceeds from disposal and is included in the profit or loss in the year of disposal. Where the gain or loss is obtained from sale of properties, it is 
recognised when the significant risks and rewards have transferred to the buyer, which is normally when legal title passes to the buyer.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

(e) Income Tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate 
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

A balance sheet approach is adopted under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to 
temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, 
that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary differences and unused tax losses only when it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Current and deferred tax balances relating to amounts recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity are also recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

(f) Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; it is 
held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash 
equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are 
classified as non-current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it 
is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks, deposits held at call with financial institutions and, where applicable, bank 
overdrafts. For the statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents also includes bank overdrafts, which are shown 
within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

(h) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amounts less any provision for impairment and are generally due for settlement within  
30 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is assessed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing 
the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there is objective evidence that the consolidated 
entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) 
are considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating 
to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.

(i) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to inventories using weighted average method.

(j) Financial instruments

Classification

The consolidated entity classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates the designation at 
the end of the reporting period.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Investments in listed securities are carried at fair value through the profit or loss. They are measured at their fair value at the end of the reporting 
period and any increment or decrement in fair value from the prior period is recognised in the profit or loss of the current period. Fair value of 
listed investments is based on current bid prices.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments and it is the 
consolidated entity’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as such or that are not classified in any of the other 
categories. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments.
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Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

Derivative instruments

Derivative instruments are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken to the profit or loss unless they are 
designated as hedges.

The consolidated entity designates certain derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).

At the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the consolidated entity’s risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions, is documented.

Assessments, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been, and 
will continue to be, highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedging items, are also documented.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in the hedge reserve are reclassified to the profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item will affect the profit or loss.

(k) Derivatives

The consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge its risk associated with interest rate fluctuations. 
Such derivatives are stated at fair value. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar 
instruments.

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to net profit or 
loss for the year.

For derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting, the method for recognising gains and losses on changes in fair value depends on whether the 
derivative is classified as a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge. Derivatives are classified as fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure 
to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability and as cash flow hedges when they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that 
are attributable to either a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction. The consolidated entity 
documents at inception of the hedge the relationship between the hedging instruments (derivatives) and the hedged items, as well as the risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction. The consolidated entity also documents, both at inception of the 
hedge and on an ongoing basis whether the derivatives that are used in the hedging transactions have been, and will continue to be, highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss, together with any 
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion 
of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within finance costs together with changes in the fair value of 
the hedged fixed rate borrowings attributable to interest rate risk. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss 
within other income or other expenses.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other 
comprehensive income in the hedging reserve and reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in periods when the 
hedged item affects profit or loss. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is 
recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge 
accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gains or losses on the hedging instrument recognised in other comprehensive income is kept in 
other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction occurs. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain 
or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss for the year as a reclassification adjustment.

(l) Fair value

Fair values may be used for financial asset and liability measurement and well as for sundry disclosures.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. It is based on the presumption that the transaction takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in 
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. The principal or most advantageous market must be accessible to, or by, the 
consolidated entity. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their best economic interest.

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account the market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset at its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset at its highest and best use.

In measuring fair value, the consolidated entity uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of 
unobservable inputs.
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(m) Property, Plant and Equipment

Cost

Property, plant and equipment not classified as investment properties is stated at historical cost. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives commencing from the time 
the asset is held ready for use.

The useful lives for each class of asset are: 2015 2014

Plant and equipment 3 to 25 years 3 to 25 years

Carrying amount

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment (cost less accumulated depreciation) is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in 
excess of the recoverable amount from those assets. 

(n) Investment Properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income, for capital appreciation or for both. Initially, investment properties are 
measured at cost including transaction costs. Investment properties are subsequently remeasured annually at fair value. Movements in the fair 
value of investment properties are recognised directly to profit or loss. As part of the process of determining the fair value of all property, an 
external independent valuer, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of 
property being valued, values the Brisbane Market property annually.

Property under construction held for future use as investment property is also carried at fair value unless fair value cannot yet be reliably 
determined. If fair value cannot yet be reliably determined, the property will be accounted for at cost until either the fair value can be reliably 
determined or when construction is complete.

(o) Intangibles

Goodwill

Goodwill on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the consolidated entity’s share of the net 
identifiable assets of the acquired entities at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses.

Brand names

Expenditure on internally generated brand names is expensed as incurred. Acquired brand names are stated at cost, are considered to have 
indefinite useful lives and are not amortised. The useful life is assessed annually to determine whether events or circumstances continue to 
support an indefinite useful life. The carrying value of brand names is reviewed annually for impairment at the same time every year.

Software

Significant costs associated with software are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected benefit, being 
their finite life of 5 years.

(p) Impairment of assets

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised but are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances arise that indicates 
that the carrying amount of the asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is defined as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for impairment at the end of the reporting period to determine whether there is any objective evidence that they 
are impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have a negative effect on the 
estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimate future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that 
share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For 
financial assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in the profit or loss.

(q) Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave, long service leave and accumulating sick leave expected to 
be settled within 12 of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-
accumulating sick leave are recognised when leave is taken and measured at the actual rates paid or payable.

Notes to the financial statements
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Other long-term employee benefits obligations

Liabilities for long service leave are recognised as part of the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit 
method. In arriving at the present value of expected future payments, consideration is also given to expected future salaries and wages levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service.

(r) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the year end and which are 
unpaid. These amounts are unsecured and have 14 to 60 day payment terms.

(s) Borrowings

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that it is required to complete and 
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

(t) Dividends

Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of the company.

(u) Treatment of insurance proceeds

The January 2011 flood insurance claim was finalised during the reporting period and the final payment taken to revenue was $1,651,941.

Brisbane Markets Limited has included this final payment as Insurance Recovery revenue in the Statement of Profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

(v) New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

Any significant impact on the accounting policies of the consolidated entity from the adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
are disclosed below. The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial 
performance or position of the consolidated entity.

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the consolidated entity:

AASB 9 - Financial Instruments 

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard replaces all previous versions of 
AASB 9 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. Under the new hedge accounting requirements: (a) the 80-125% 
highly effective threshold has been removed; (b) risk components of non-financial items can quality for hedge accounting provided that the risk 
component is separately identifiable and reliably measurable; (c) an aggregated position (i.e. combination of a derivative and a non-derivative) 
can qualify for hedge accounting provided that it is managed as one risk exposure; (d) when entities designate the intrinsic value of options, the 
initial time value is deferred in OCI and subsequent changes in time value are recognised in OCI. The consolidated entity currently applies hedge 
accounting. It is expected that the application of the new amendment will not have an impact on the entity’s financial instruments.

AASB 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides a single standard for revenue 
recognition. An entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This means that revenue will be recognised 
when control of goods or services is transferred, rather than on transfer of risks and rewards as is currently the case under IAS 18 Revenue. Due to 
the recent release of this standard, the consolidated entity has not yet made a detailed assessment of the impact of this standard.

2. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised and in future periods affected.  Information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are:

Estimates of fair value of investment properties

Critical judgements are made by the consolidated entity in respect of the fair values of investment properties, including investment properties 
under development. The fair value of these investments is reviewed regularly by management with reference to external independent property 
valuations and market conditions existing at the reporting date, using generally accepted market practices.  The critical assumptions underlying 
management’s estimates of fair values are those relating to gross and net market rents, average market rental growth and capitalisation and 
discount rates. 

Estimates of fair value of interest rate derivatives

The fair value of interest rate derivatives have been determined using a pricing model based on discounted cash flow analysis and incorporating 
assumptions supported by market data at balance date, including market expectation of future interest rates and discount rates and taking into 
account estimates prepared by external counterparties.

Notes to the financial statements
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Provision for impairment of receivables

The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of provision is assessed by 
taking into account the recent revenue billings, the ageing of receivables, historical collection rates and specific knowledge of the individual 
debtor financial position.

Key judgment-impairment

At the end of the reporting period, the consolidated entity assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has been 
impaired.  In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine 
whether an impairment has arisen.  Impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues and expenses are recognised net of GST except where GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item.  Receivables 
and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.  Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a 
gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.  Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

Contributed Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction from the 
equity proceeds, net of any income tax benefit.  Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options associated with the acquisition of 
a business are included as part of the purchase consideration.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant and 
equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The 
depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Income Tax

The consolidated entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is required in determining the 
provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain. The consolidated entity recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the consolidated entity’s 
current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will 
impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

3.  Profit/(loss) before income tax expense

The profit/(loss) before income tax expense is arrived at after crediting and charging the following specific items:

Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

Net profits

Net profit (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (8,588) (267)

Charges

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: 897,297 905,276 

Finance costs

Interest and finance charges paid to other parties 6,224,526 6,541,409 

Flood costs

Flood expenses^ - 1,956,737 

Other

Defined contribution superannuation expense 483,350 430,568 

^ Flood expenses relates to costs incurred after the Brisbane Flood disaster in January 2011 to restore the Markets to its pre-flood operating position.  
The costs include replacement costs, clean-up costs and reinstatement costs.
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Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

4.  Income tax

(a)  The prima facie tax on profit differs from the income tax expense as follows:

Profit before income tax expense 12,376,385 25,060,968 

Income tax at the statutory rate of 30% (2014: 30%) 3,712,916 7,518,290

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income

Non-deductible entertainment 2,427 1,618 

Other 193 - 

Income tax expense 3,715,536 7,519,908

(b)  The components of tax expense comprise:

Current tax 2,855,430 2,673,522 

Deferred tax arising from origination and reversal of temporary differences 860,106 4,846,386 

Income tax expense 3,715,536 7,519,908

Deferred income tax (revenue) expense included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease (increase) in deferred tax assets (Note 11) (218,705) 7,687 

(Decrease) increase in deferred tax liabilities (Note 11) 1,078,811 4,838,699 

860,106 4,846,386 

Franking credits available for use in subsequent financial year 8,241,848 8,157,880 

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year adjusted for:

(i) franking credits that will arise from payment of the amount of the provision for income tax,

(ii) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date, and

(iii) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

5.  Dividends

Dividends provided for or paid during the year:

Final fully franked ordinary dividends (fully paid shares) 2,125,000 2,231,250 

Final fully franked special dividends (fully paid shares) 425,000 212,500 

Interim fully franked ordinary dividends (fully paid shares) 2,550,000 2,125,000 

5,100,000 4,568,750 

Dividend per share paid for fully paid shares during the financial year 12.00 cents 10.75 cents

Dividends paid are fully franked at the tax rate of 30 cents in the dollar.

6.  Trade and other receivables

Trade debtors 957,534 1,014,966 

Less Provision for impairment (10,000) (5,000)

947,534 1,009,966 

Other debtors 156,650 1,541,214 

1,104,184 2,551,180

At 30 June 2015, the ageing of trade debtors is as follows:

Less than 30 days 860,993 1,005,005 

30 days 19,195 2,119 

60 days 46,274 - 

90 days or more 21,072 2,842 

947,534 1,009,966 

Trade and other receivables aged over 30 days are neither impaired nor in default and are owed by organisations that have a good credit history 
with the entity. 

A Provision for impairment of $10,000 has been provided for specific outstanding receivables as at 30 June 2015.
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7. Inventories

Stock held for resale 15,494 22,472

8. Other current assets

Prepayments 1,109,426 1,107,803

9. Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment - at cost 7,503,490 7,439,143 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (4,041,829) (4,089,510)

3,461,661 3,349,633

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amount of Property, Plant and Equipment at the beginning and end of the current and previous periods:

Plant and Equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 3,349,633 3,957,448 

Additions 1,193,228 314,486

Disposals and transfers (183,903) (17,025)

Depreciation expense (897,297) (905,276)

Carrying amount at end of financial year 3,461,661 3,349,633 

Refer note 15 for property, plant and equipment pledged as security.

10.  Investment properties

Investment properties at fair value 236,500,000 222,800,000

(a)  Reconciliation

Reconciliations of the carrying amount of investment properties at the beginning and end of the current and previous periods:

Freehold Land, Buildings and improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of financial year 222,800,000 203,527,000 

Revaluation increment/(decrement) (184,366) 13,835,575 

Additions 13,884,366 5,437,425 

Carrying amount at end of financial year 236,500,000 222,800,000 

Summary

Freehold land, buildings and improvements - 250-385 Sherwood Road, Rocklea 222,500,000 208,500,000

Freehold Land - 320 Sherwood Road, Rocklea 11,000,000 11,000,000

Freehold Land - 47 Logistics Place, Larapinta 3,000,000 3,300,000

236,500,000 222,800,000 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment property:

Rental and outgoings from investment property 40,135,865 39,247,563 

Direct operating expense from property that generated rental income (20,194,923) (18,517,466)

19,940,942 20,730,097

(b)  Assets pledged as security

Refer note 15 for details investment properties pledged as security.

(c)  Leases as a lessor

Investment properties are generally leased to tenants on long term operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Minimum lease payments 
receivable under the non-cancellable operating leases of investment property not recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

Within one year 21,449,484 16,001,972 

Later than one year but not later than five years 74,583,496 41,071,058 

Later than five years 24,538,604 11,644,998 

120,571,584 68,718,028 

Notes to the financial statements
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(d)  An independent valuation of investment properties as at 30 June 2015 was carried out by a qualified valuer with relevant experience in the 
type of property being valued (Peter Roberts - Registered No. 2417, LandMark White Brisbane Pty Ltd). Independent valuations are carried out at 
least annually.

In assessing the value of the investment property, the independent valuer has considered discounted cash flows, capitalisation of net market 
income methods and direct comparison.

Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

11.  Tax liability

Current

Current tax liabilities 915,308 1,088,724

Non-current

Deferred tax liability 22,328,689 19,719,748 

Deferred tax assets 4,882,551 3,928,244 

Net deferred tax 17,446,138 15,791,504

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and when the deferred income taxes 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where 
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in the profit or loss:

Provision accounts 3,000 1,500 

Employee entitlements 151,245 135,672 

Accruals 450,641 250,444 

Property, plant and equipment 16,658 16,095 

Income received in advance 8,256 7,189 

Capital loss 95,084 95,084 

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income:

Cash flow hedge 4,157,667 3,422,260 

Deferred tax assets 4,882,551 3,928,244 

Movements:

Opening balance at 1 July 3,928,244 3,518,850 

(Credited) charged to other comprehensive income 735,408 417,081 

(Credited) charged to the profit or loss - under/(over) provision prior years 194 -

(Credited) charged to the profit or loss (Note 4) 218,705 (7,687)

Closing balance 4,882,551 3,928,244 

Deferred tax liabilities

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in the profit or loss

Property, plant and equipment 22,328,689 19,719,748 

Total deferred tax liabilities 22,328,689 19,719,748 

Movements:

Opening balance at 1 July 19,719,748 14,881,047 

(Credited) charged to the profit or loss - under/(over) provision prior years 1,530,129 -

Charged (credited) to the income statement (Note 4) 1,078,812 4,838,701 

Closing balance 22,328,689 19,719,748 
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12.  Intangibles

Intangibles with an indefinite life

Goodwill - at cost 143,477 143,477 

Brand names - at cost 500,000 500,000 

643,477 643,477 

13.  Trade and other payables

Trade creditors 1,483,985 859,630 

Warehouse deposits held 340,953 448,316 

Accrued interest 1,073,197 1,167,387 

Annual leave 320,234 279,630 

Other creditors and accruals 2,755,576 2,307,248 

5,973,945 5,062,211 

14.  Provisions

Current Provisions

Employee entitlements 164,308 109,582

Non - Current Provisions

Employee entitlements 47,895 63,028 

212,203 172,610 

15.  Borrowings

Non-current

Loan - Westpac Banking Corporation 91,950,000 88,650,000

Terms and Conditions relating to the above loan:

(i) The debt facility with Westpac Banking Corporation commenced in February 2014 and will be mature on 28 February 2017. Bank loans are 
under a facility with a fixed term which expires on 28 February 2017. Interest rate risks associated with the liabilities are managed with interest 
rate swap arrangements. As at June 30 2015, the company had drawn only $91.95 million of this $110 million facility.

(ii) Loans are secured by a first registered mortgage over all current and future real property at the Brisbane Markets site and a fixed and floating 
charge over the assets and undertakings of the company. Carrying amount of current real property as per the valuation at 30 June 2015 is 
$236,500,000.

16. Contributed equity

Issued and Paid up Capital

42,500,000 (2014: 42,500,000) Ordinary Shares 52,480,189 52,480,189 

4 (2014: 4) Industry Shares 30 30 

52,480,219 52,480,219

2015 
Number

2014 
Number

Movements in share capital

Ordinary Shares

Balance at the beginning of financial year 42,500,000 42,500,000 52,480,189 52,480,189 

Balance at the end of financial year 42,500,000 42,500,000 52,480,189 52,480,189 

Industry Shares

Balance at the beginning of financial year 4 4 30 30 

Balance at the end of financial year 4 4 30 30 

Notes to the financial statements
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Terms and Conditions of Contributed Equity:

Ordinary Shares

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to participate in the proceeds from 
the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of, and amounts paid up on, shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, 
either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.

Industry Shares

The holder of the Industry shares shall be entitled to nominate industry directors to the board according to the number of industry shares held, 
shall be entitled to receive notice of, and attend meetings of the company and to speak on any matter relating to industry shares, but not vote in 
respect of those shares. The holder of industry shares has no right to participate in the capital or profits of the company, whether on winding up, 
by way of distribution of capital or otherwise.

Capital Management

The consolidated entity manages its capital to ensure that entities in the consolidated entity will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the consolidated entity consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 15, cash and cash equivalents 
and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in Notes 16 and 18, 
and the Statement of changes in equity.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the consolidated entity’s capital by assessing the consolidated entity’s financial risks and adjusting its capital 
structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the management of debt levels, distributions to 
shareholders and share issues.

Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

The gearing ratio at year end was:

Finance assets 1,104,184 2,551,180 

Cash and cash equivalents 901,785 3,232,660 

Total borrowings 91,950,000 88,650,000 

Net debt 89,944,031 82,866,160 

Equity (net of Intangible and Deferred Tax Assets) 107,853,504 106,962,911 

Net debt to equity ratio 0.834 0.775 

17. Derivatives

Interest rate swap contracts - at fair value 13,858,901 11,407,540

Interest rate swap contracts - Refer to Note 21 for the company’s credit risk and hedging policy. In respect of the quarterly interest rate swap 
contracts, the fixed interest rates range between 7.30% above and 3.79% above (2014: 7.30% above and 3.79% above) and the variable rates range 
between 2.08% below and 2.19% below the 90 day bank bill rate, which at balance date was 2.20% (2014: 2.73%). The contracts require settlement 
of net interest receivable or payable every 90 days. The contracts are settled on a net basis.

Swaps currently in place cover approximately 70.69% (2014: 62.04%) of the variable loan principal outstanding and are timed to expire as each 
loan repayment falls due.

Interest rate swaps are used to hedge cash flow risk associated with future transactions. Gain or losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of derivatives are initially recognised directly in a hedge reserve in the equity section of the statement of financial position. At the date of the 
transaction, amounts included in the hedge reserve are transferred from equity and included in either the statement of comprehensive income or 
the cost of assets. The statement of changes in equity includes transfers to and from the hedge reserve.

The gains or losses from restating the interest rate swap contracts at fair value are deferred in equity in the cash flow hedge reserve to the extent 
that the hedge is effective, and reclassified in net profit when the hedged interest expense is recognised. During the year ended 30 June 2015, no 
ineffective portion (2014: $nil) has been recognised and transferred to the profit or loss.

18.  Reserves

Cash flow hedge reserve - Interest rate swap 9,701,232 7,985,279 

Movement in reserves

Balance at 1 July 2014 7,985,279 7,012,086 

Increase / decrease in fair value of cash flow hedge 1,715,953 973,193 

Balance at 30 June 2015 9,701,232 7,985,279
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2015 
$

2014 
$

19. Commitments

At 30 June 2015, the consolidated entity had no material capital or other expenditure commitments other than as disclosed.

Contractual Operating Commitments

Estimated major expenditure contracted for at balance date, but not provided for is as follows:

- payable not later than one year 3,518,169 2,854,586 

- payable later than one year but not later than five years 1,996,939 3,778,664 

5,515,108 6,633,250 

Capital Project Commitments

- payable not later than one year 3,139,361 -

20. Contingent assets/liabilities

As at 30 June 2015, the Consolidated Entity had no significant contingent assets.

The Consolidated Entity has a contingent liability of $150,000 in relation to an alleged breach of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld) in the 
matter of a forklift incident which occurred in the area of the Markets on 6 May 2013. This matter is still in progress.

21. Financial risk management

(a) General objectives, policies and processes

In common with all other businesses, the consolidated entity is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note 
describes the consolidated entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to measure them. Further 
quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial statements.

There have been no substantive changes in the consolidated entity’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, policies and processes 
for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless otherwise stated in this note.

The board has overall responsibility for the determination of the consolidated entity’s risk management objectives and policies and, whilst 
retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure the effective 
implementation of the objectives and policies to the management. The consolidated entity’s risk management policies and objectives are 
therefore designed to minimise the potential impacts of these risks on the results of the consolidated entity where such impacts may be material. 
The consolidated entity generally uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swap contracts to hedge these risks. The board 
receives monthly reports from management through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of 
the objectives and policies it sets.

The overall objective of the board is to set polices that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting the consolidated entity’s 
competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below:

(b) Credit risk exposure

The objective of the entity is to minimise risk of loss from credit risk exposure.

Credit risk arises principally from cash at bank and trade and other receivables. Credit risk from receivables is measured using days and ageing.

The maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets at the reporting date is the carrying amount of these assets as indicated in the statement of 
financial position. Provision has been raised in the accounts where doubts as to the full realisation of the assets exists.

Credit risk in respect of trade debtors is managed by requiring payment within 14 days of the date of invoice.

Credit risk represents the risk of counter party default. The credit risk on financial assets of the consolidated entity which have been recognised 
in the statement of financial position is generally the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment. Credit risk is managed through 
the establishment of credit limits with guarantees and other forms of security obtained where required. Limits are determined after taking into 
account the debtor’s financial position, past experience and other factors. Compliance with credit limits is regularly monitored by management.

Hedging Policy

The company uses derivative financial instruments (interest rate swaps) to reduce the exposure to market risks arising from changes in interest 
rates. The consolidated entity does not enter into derivative contracts for the purposes of trading. Hedging decisions are made based on the 
consolidated entity’s interest rate risk position. Hedging for the purpose of this policy means a transaction which reduces the calculated interest 
rate risk on the overall portfolio of interest bearing assets and liabilities using one or more of the interest rate risk measures of value at risk, 
sensitivity or accrued simulation.

Notes to the financial statements
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(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The objective of managing 
liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due, under both normal 
and stressed circumstances.

Liquidity risk is measured using liquidity ratios such as working capital. The consolidated entity manages this risk through the following 
mechanisms:

(i) Preparing forward looking cash flow analysis in relation to operational, investing and financing activities.

(ii) Monitoring undrawn credit facilities.

(iii) Obtaining funding from a variety of sources.

(iv) Maintaining a reputable credit profile.

(v) Managing credit risk related to financial assets.

The tables below reflect an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. Bank funding amounts have been deducted in 
the analysis as management does not consider there is any reasonable risk that the bank will terminate such facilities. The bank does however 
maintain the right to terminate such facilities in the event of a breach of financial undertakings.

Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis

 
Consolidated entity - 2015

Weighted average 
interest rate

Within 1 year 
$

1 to 5 years 
$

Over 5 years 
$

Financial liabilities due for payment

Trade & other payables (excl. annual leave) N/A 5,653,710 - -

Amounts payable to related parties N/A 65,748 - -

Net settled Interest rate swaps 2.61% 2,569,426 8,887,204 9,971,430

Bank loans # 4.94% - 91,950,000 -

Interest on bank loans 4,735,425 3,156,950

Total expected outflows 13,024,309 103,994,154 9,971,430

less Bank loans (see note above) - 91,950,000 -

Total expected outflows 13,024,309 12,044,154 9,971,430

 
Consolidated entity - 2014

Weighted average 
interest rate

Within 1 year 
$

1 to 5 years 
$

Over 5 years 
$

Financial liabilities due for payment

Trade & other payables (excl. annual leave) N/A 4,782,580 - - 

Amounts payable to related parties N/A 4,182 - - 

Net settled Interest rate swaps 2.69% 2,086,260 7,676,944 9,732,170 

Bank loans # 5.65% - 88,650,000 - 

Interest on bank loans 5,008,725 8,347,875 - 

Total expected outflows 11,881,747 104,674,819 9,732,170 

less Bank loans (see note above) - 88,650,000 - 

Total expected outflows 11,881,747 16,024,819 9,732,170 

# Note: Bank funding facility was renewed on 26 February 2014 with a next renewal date in February 2017. Payment of these amounts will not physically occur with the 
loan balance flowing forward to the new negotiated facility.

Interest risk management

Interest rate risks are caused by fluctuations in interest rates which, in turn, are due to market factors.

Interest rate sensitivity

The consolidated entity’s main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and interest rate swaps. The following table 
demonstrates the sensitivity to a possible change in interest rates by 1%, with all other variables held constant, on the consolidated entity’s profit 
or loss before taxes and other comprehensive income. This sensitivity analysis on the interest rate swap has been prepared on the basis that the 
swaps are fully effective at year end and reflect an undiscounted analysis.
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Effect on income before taxes

Sensitivity 2015 30-Jun-15 Increase 1% Decrease 1%

Cash and cash equivalents 901,785 9,018 (9,018)

Borrowings (Variable loan) 26,950,000 269,500 (269,500)

Effect on other comprehensive income

30-Jun-15 Increase 1% Decrease 1%

Interest rate swap 13,858,901 5,324,753 (5,324,753)

Effect on income before taxes

Sensitivity 2014 30-Jun-14 Increase 1% Decrease 1%

Cash and cash equivalents 3,232,660 32,327 (32,327)

Borrowings (Variable loan) 27,150,000 271,500 (271,500)

Effect on other comprehensive income

30-Jun-14 Increase 1% Decrease 1%

Interest rate swap 11,407,540 5,178,411 (5,178,411) 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the entity’s income 
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

As borrowings are effectively at a fixed interest rate there is no material exposure to any market risks including interest rate risk.

22. Fair value measurement

The following assets and liabilities are recognised and measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

- Investment properties

- Derivatives

There are no assets or liabilities which are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

Fair value hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed are categorised according to the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date,

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly,

Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Recognised fair value measurements

The following table sets out the consolidated entity’s assets and liabilities that are measured and recognised at fair value in the financial 
statements.

Level 1 
$

Level 2 
$

Level 3 
$

Total 
$

2015

Non-financial assets

Investment properties - - 236,500,000 236,650,000

Financial liabilities

Derivatives- interest rate swaps - 13,858,901 - 13,858,901

2014

Non-financial assets

Investment properties - - 222,800,000 222,800,000 

Financial liabilities

Derivatives - interest rate swaps - 11,407,540 - 11,407,540 

Notes to the financial statements

36



Notes to the financial statements

There were no transfers during the year between Level 1 and Level 2 for recurring fair value measurements.

The consolidated entity’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of the different fair value hierarchy levels at the date the event or change in 
circumstances that caused the transfer occurred.

Valuation techniques used to derive Level 2 and Level 3 fair values recognised in the financial statements

The following table sets out the valuation techniques used to measure fair value within Level 2, including a description of the significant inputs 
used.

Description Valuation approach and inputs used

Derivatives - interest rate swaps Present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves.

The following table sets out the valuation techniques used to measure fair value within Level 3, including details of the significant unobservable 
inputs used and the relationship between unobservable inputs and fair value.

Description Valuation approaches Unobservable inputs Range of inputs Relationship between 
unobservable inputs and 
fair value

Investment properties Capitalisation approach based 
on current market net income 
generated by the property 
capitalised at an appropriate 
market yield to establish the 
property’s current market value 
fully leased.

Capitalisation rate 8.75% to 9.50% 
(average used 
9.02%)

The higher the capitalisation 
rate, the lower the fair value.

Income approach based 
on estimated rental value 
of the property. Discount 
rates and terminal yields, are 
estimated by an external valuer 
or management based on 
comparable transactions and 
industry data.

Discount rate 10.00% to 10.00% 
(average used 
10.00%) The higher the discount 

rate and terminal yield, 
the lower the fair value.Terminal yield 9.25% to 10.00% 

(average used 
9.52%)

Market approach based on 
prices and other relevant 
information generated by market 
transactions involving identical 
or comparable (i.e. similar) 
assets or a group of assets.

The dollar rate per 
square metre per 
annum of lettable 
area achieved by 
comparable assets sold 
in the current market.

$1,400 to $1,425 per 
square metre per 
annum of lettable 
area.

The higher the dollar rate 
per square metre per 
annum of lettable area, the 
higher the fair value

 
There were no significant inter-relationships between unobservable inputs that materially affect fair values.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

The following table sets out the movements in Level 3 fair values for recurring measurements.

Investment properties

Opening balance 1 July 2014 222,800,000

Acquisitions 13,884,366

Fair Value movement recognised in profit or loss (184,366)

Closing balance 30 June 2015 236,500,000

 
Valuation processes for Level 3 fair values

Management regularly reviews the Level 3 valuations of investment properties and reports the results of these reviews to the audit committee and 
to the board. Valuations are fully reviewed every six months to ensure that they are current for the half-year and annual financial statements with 
the consolidated entity engaging an external, independent and qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the consolidated entity’s investment 
properties at the end of every annual reporting period. All valuations, including external valuations, are reviewed and approved by the audit 
committee before submission to the board.

Highest and best use

The current use of the investment properties equates to their highest and best use.
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23. Remuneration of auditors

During the year the following amounts were paid/payable to the auditor of the parent entity and its related practices:

Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

Assurance Services

Audit and review of the financial reports 73,600 65,619 

Taxation and Advisory Services

Tax compliance and corporate advisory services, including review of company income tax returns 42,199 27,000 

Corporate and Advisory Services

Corporate advising, valuation and other services 42,727 -

24. Statement of cash flows information

(a) Reconciliation of cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and investments where the term of these investments 
is less than three months. Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
statement of financial position as follows:

Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

Cash on hand 5,575 6,155 

Cash at bank 896,210 3,226,505 

901,785 3,232,660 

(b)  Reconciliation of profit to net cash provided by operating activities

Profit for the year 8,660,849 17,541,060 

Change in value of investment properties 184,366 (13,835,575)

Depreciation and amortisation 897,297 905,276 

Profit/(Loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment 8,588 267 

Decrease/(increase) in receivables (1,079,874) (3,049,127)

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets (218,900) 7,685 

Decrease/(increase) in inventory 36,325 17,813 

Decrease/(increase) in other assets 158,922 (131,163)

Increase/(decrease) in payables 3,169,000 1,826,806 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 119,306 47,661 

Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax expense (173,416) 218,487 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability 2,608,942 4,838,701 

Net cash provided by operating activities 14,371,405 8,387,891 

25. Related party transactions

Parent entity

Brisbane Markets Limited is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 27.

Key management personnel compensation

Note: Key management personnel includes non-executive board members.

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity during the year is 
as set out below:
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Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

Short term employee benefits 1,161,292 1,132,024 

Post-employment benefits 90,251 79,635 

Other long-term benefits 10,599 9,977 

1,262,142 1,221,636 

Transactions with related parties

A Director, Mr Andrew Young, holds the position of Chief Executive Officer of The Queensland Chamber of Fruit and Vegetable Industries Co-
operative Limited. Mr Anthony Joseph, Mr Peter Tighe and Mr Noel Greenhalgh are members of the Board of the Queensland Chamber of Fruit 
and Vegetable Industries Co-operative Limited. In accordance with Clause 37.1 of the Constitution of Brisbane Markets Limited, The Queensland 
Chamber of Fruit and Vegetable Industries Co-operative Limited as the holder of the four industry shares appoints four Directors to the Board of 
Brisbane Markets Limited. The Directors appointed are Mr Anthony Joseph, Mr Bruce Hatcher, Mr Simon George and Mr Stuart Lummis.

The Queensland Chamber of Fruit and Vegetable Industries Co-operative Limited lease premises and acquire other services of Brisbane Markets 
Limited. All transactions are based on normal commercial terms and conditions.

Brisbane Markets Limited utilises a number of the services provided by The Queensland Chamber of Fruit and Vegetable Industries Co-operative 
Limited, and all transactions are on normal commercial terms.

A Director, Mr Anthony Joseph, is also a Director of Alfred E Chave Pty Ltd and BMCSAD Pty Ltd, which lease premises from Brisbane Markets 
Limited. The leases are based on normal commercial terms and conditions which are no more favourable than those which it is reasonable to 
expect would be applied if the transaction was at arm’s length.

A Director, Mr Peter Tighe, is also a Director of Benhiam Pty Ltd and Hambleton Investments Pty Ltd, which lease premises from Brisbane Markets 
Limited. The leases are based on normal commercial terms and conditions which are no more favourable than those which it is reasonable to 
expect would be applied if the transaction was at arm’s length.

A Director, Mr Noel Greenhalgh, is also a Director of R W Pascoe Pty Ltd and Prottetore Pty Ltd, which lease premises from Brisbane Markets 
Limited. The leases are based on normal commercial terms and conditions which are no more favourable than those which it is reasonable to 
expect would be applied if the transaction was at arm’s length.

A Director, Mr Simon George, is also a Director of Simon George & Sons Pty Ltd, which lease premises from Brisbane Markets Limited. The leases 
are based on normal commercial terms and conditions which are no more favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect would be 
applied if the transaction was at arm’s length.

Aggregate amount of the above transactions with related parties:

Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

Income:

Rental & related charges 2,650,334 2,549,705 

Utility charges 1,273,750 1,259,439 

Joint promotion and sponsorship 115,936 151,950 

Other 102,036 104,174 

Total rent and other revenue received 4,142,056 4,065,268 

Expenses:

Consultancy and IT services 22,855 21,308

Other 279,340 209,935

Total purchased 302,195 231,243

Balance outstanding in receivables - current assets 99,535 97,232

Balance outstanding in payables - current liabilities 65,748 4,182

Loans to/from related parties

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current or previous reporting date.

Terms and conditions

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

26. Parent entity information

The Corporations Act requirement to prepare parent entity financial statements where consolidated financial statements are prepared has been 
removed and replaced by regulation 2M.3.01 which requires the following limited disclosure in regards to the parent entity (Brisbane Markets 
Limited). The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of Brisbane Markets Limited in accordance with the 
accounting policy described in Note 1(c).
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Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

Parent entity

Current assets 3,004,050 7,865,865 

Non-current assets 240,326,544 229,943,944 

Total assets 243,330,594 237,809,809 

Current liabilities 8,396,615 6,968,306 

Non-current liabilities 123,362,661 120,288,632 

Total liabilities 131,759,276 127,256,938 

Net assets 111,571,318 110,552,871 

Issued capital 52,480,219 52,480,219 

Reserves (9,701,232) (7,985,279)

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 68,792,331 66,057,931 

Total shareholders’ equity 111,571,318 110,552,871 

Profit/(loss) for the year 7,834,401 16,739,062 

Total comprehensive income 6,118,448 15,765,869 

Profit for the year

The Operating profit of the parent entity after income tax for the year ended 30 June 2015 was $7,834,401 which included a net revaluation 
decrement after tax of $129,056. The net revaluation increment is a non-operating unrealised variance to the result and as such is not included for 
purposes of calculating cash flow or dividends. 

Guarantees

No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity in relation to debts of its subsidiaries.

Commitments

At 30 June 2015, the entity had no material capital or other expenditure commitments other than as disclosed.

Contractual Operating Commitments

Estimated major expenditure contracted for at balance date, but not provided for is as follows:

Consolidated

2015 
$

2014 
$

- payable not later than one year 3,522,624 2,854,586 

- payable later than one year but not later than five years 2,006,117 3,778,664 

5,528,741 6,633,250 

Capital Project Commitments

- payable not later than one year 3,139,361 - 

Contingent assets/liabilities

As at 30 June 2015, the Entity had no significant contingent assets.

The parent entity has a contingent liability of $150,000 in relation to an alleged breach of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (Qld) in the matter 
of a forklift incident which occurred in the area of the Markets on 6 May 2013. This matter is still in progress.

27. Interests in subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following wholly-owned subsidiary in accordance with 
the accounting policy described in note 1(c).

Ownership interest

 
Name

Principal place of business/  
Country of incorporation

2015 
%

2014 
%

Brisbane MarketPlace Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

28. Events after the reporting period

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the consolidated entity’s 
operations, the results of those operations or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in future financial years, except as noted below:

• A group entity entered into a contract with Watpac Speciality Services Pty Ltd on 13 August 2015 for the completion of the building works 
required to refurbish Building G2. The contract has a value of $4.71 Million plus GST.

Notes to the financial statements
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In the directors’ opinion:

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the Corporations 
Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements;

• the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 
and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date.

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that Brisbane Markets Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

A J Joseph   A Young 
Chairman    Director

16 September 2015 
Brisbane

Directors’ declaration
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REVIEW REPORT 
 
 

To the members of Brisbane Markets Limited 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Brisbane Markets Limited, which comprises the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the 
consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from  
time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from  
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
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and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
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Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which    
has been given to the directors of Brisbane Markets Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the 
directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Brisbane Markets Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and 
of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
Note 1. 

 
 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 
 
 

 

Damian Wright 
Director 

 
 

Brisbane, 16 September 2015 
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(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and 
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Damian Wright 
Director 

 
 

Brisbane, 16 September 2015 
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Corporate governance statement

The Board of Directors is responsible on behalf 
of the shareholders for the overall corporate 
governance of the company, including direction and 
oversight of the company’s business and affairs.

Board Composition

The Board comprises eight Directors including seven non-executive 
Directors, being Tony Joseph, Bruce Hatcher, Tony Kelly, Peter Tighe, 
Noel Greenhalgh, Simon George and Stuart Lummis. The other director 
is the Chief Executive Officer, Andrew Young.

The constitution states that the number of Directors should be 
determined by the company, but be not less than three and no more 
than eight at any time.

Role of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for Corporate Governance 
matters. It has established principles under which the Board and 
management operate to ensure that business is carried out in the best 
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders, with proper sharing 
of responsibilities between Directors and management.

The Board is responsible for adopting business plans, investment 
strategies, corporate policies, budgets and the approval of longer 
term strategic plans for the company, delegating management of the 
business and the implementation of Board strategies and plans to the 
Chief Executive Officer.

The Board also reviews and if appropriate, approves major capital 
expenditure, acquisitions and funding issues. It has the responsibilities 
of overseeing the audit and compliance functions.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

The Board must meet at least 6 times per year and will hold as many 
additional meetings as the operations of the company may require. 
Board meetings are scheduled at the commencement of each calendar 
year to ensure as many Directors as possible are able to be present at 
meetings.

Performance of Directors and Chief Executive Officer

The performance of all Directors, the Board as a whole and the Chief 
Executive Officer is to be reviewed at least annually in accordance with 
the Company’s corporate governance guidelines.

Independent Professional Advice

Each director has the right to seek independent professional advice at 
the company’s cost, subject to the approval of the Chairman.

Committees of the Board

To assist in the execution of the Board’s corporate governance 
responsibilities, the Board has established four committees with a non-
executive Director as Chairman of each.

Finance and Audit Committee

The key matters which will be dealt with by the Finance and Audit 
Committee include the review of:

• The appointment and continuation of external auditors;

• The adequacy of existing external audit arrangements, with 
particular emphasis on the scope and quality of the audit;

• All areas of significant capital risk and the arrangements in place to 
contain those risks to acceptable levels;

• The effectiveness of management information or other systems of 
internal control, and

• The financial statements of the company with both management 
and external auditors.

The Finance and Audit Committee comprises five Directors, being 
Bruce Hatcher (Chair), Simon George, Tony Kelly and Stuart Lummis. 
The CEO attends all committees together with other directors and 
managers as required. The Chairman has a standing invitation to 
attend any or all meetings of Board Committees.

Legal and Compliance Committee

The key areas of responsibilities for the Legal and Compliance 
Committee include:

• Monitoring legal and procedural issues to ensure the company is 
complying with all regulatory requirements.

• Advising the Board regarding potential conflicts of interest and 
related policy matters.

The Legal and Compliance Committee comprises three Directors, 
being Tony Kelly (Chair) and Peter Tighe. The CEO attends all 
committees together with other directors and managers as required. 
The Chairman has a standing invitation to attend any or all meetings of 
Board Committees.

Remuneration Committee

The key areas dealt with by the Remuneration Committee include:

• Reviewing the remuneration policies and practices for the company 
by taking into account market conditions and comparable market 
rates to attract, retain and motivate Directors, Executives and 
employees of the highest calibre and quality.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two Directors, being  
Tony Joseph and Andrew Young.

Strategy and Investment Committee

The key areas dealt with by the Strategy and Investment Committee 
include:

• Determining the organisations investment and expansion strategy in 
accordance with the BML Strategic Plan and agreed Risk Appetite.

• Consider potential acquisitions, expansion opportunities and other 
strategic investments against BML’s growth and risk appetite.

The Strategy and Investment Committee comprises five Directors, 
being Stuart Lummis (Chair), Simon George, Peter Tighe and Noel 
Greenhalgh. The CEO attends all committees together with other 
directors and managers as required. The Chairman has a standing 
invitation to attend any or all meetings of Board Committees.

Ethical Standards

The company recognises the need for Directors and employees to 
observe the highest standards of behaviour and business ethics when 
engaging in corporate activity.

All Directors and employees are expected to act in accordance with 
the law and with the highest standards of propriety.
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Number of shares % 

The Queensland Chamber of Fruit and Vegetable Industries 14,389,726 33.86

S & D George Investments Pty Ltd 7,887,200 18.56 

RW Pascoe Pty Ltd 1,847,270 4.35

Santo Antonio Varapodio & Teresa Carmel Varapodio & Rocco Salvatore Varapodio 1,125,000 2.65 

Perati Investments Pty Ltd (Perati Superannuation Fund A/C) 1,100,000 2.59 

Alfred E Chave Pty Ltd (Super Fund A/C) 804,375 1.89 

Patricia Joan Tighe and Peter Gerard Tighe (The Peter Tighe Super Fund A/C) 765,075 1.80

Stan Carter & George Spencer Pty Ltd 725,000 1.71

VGI Partners Pty Ltd (VGI Partners Master Fund A/C) 707,285 1.66 

Gregory Lamanna 687,500 1.62 

Cedars Properties Pty Ltd (The SM George Family A/C) 680,625 1.60 

Alfred E Chave Pty Ltd 618,750 1.46 

John Frederick Pressler & Pamela Deanne Pressler (J & P Pressler Unit Trust A/C) 562,500 1.32 

Robinson Farm Co Pty Ltd (Glenellen Employee Inv A/C) 404,000 0.95 

Susan Armstrong 389,191 0.92 

Mr Anthony Gribben (Gribben Super Fund A/C) 371,250 0.87 

Udass Pty Ltd 326,800 0.77

LCM Employees Plan Pty Ltd 296,250 0.70

Hambleton Investments Pty Ltd (The Tighe Property A/C) 281,250 0.66 

Mark Moore & Robert McIntosh Davidson (Panos Produce S/F A/C) 281,250 0.66 

Corporate directory
Share trading 
As an unlisted public company, shares in BML are not traded on the Australian Stock 
Exchange or any other share trading exchange system. BML does, however, maintain a 
register of parties interested in buying shares in the company and offers guidance in  
the process. 

If a shareholder wants to sell shares in the company and advises BML, the information 
will be circulated to all parties who have expressed an interest in buying shares, and the 
individuals concerned can then negotiate a price and progress the sale. 

If a sale is finalised, BML’s share registry, Link Market Services, must be sent a copy of the 
original stamped transfer form so that the change of ownership can be recorded on the 
company’s share register. 

People interested in buying or selling shares in BML, or who need any information in  
this regard, may register their interest by contacting BML’s Corporate Office on  
(07) 3915 4200. 

Top 20 BML shareholders

Share registry 
Link Market Services  
Level 15  
324 Queen Street  
Brisbane Qld 4000  
Email: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au  
Website: www.linkmarketservices.com.au 
Shareholder inquiries: 1300 554 474

Auditors and  
independent accountant 
BDO Audit Pty Ltd  
Level 10  
12 Creek Street  
Brisbane Qld 4000 

Solicitors 
HopgoodGanim Lawyers  
Level 8 Waterfront Place  
1 Eagle Street  
Brisbane Qld 4000
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